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PUBLISHER’S DISCLAIMER:

The following is a transcript of a series of interviews conducted between Oliver Stone and Vladmir Putin, on four separate trips to Russia for a total of nine days between July 2, 2015 and February 10, 2017. Since Putin’s words were translated from Russian, we took the liberty of fixing grammar, unclear language, and various inconsistencies. And because the interviews took place over a two year period, we edited out some repetition. In all cases, we did the very best we could to ensure that the intent and meaning of what was said was accurately reflected in the transcript.


Foreword

 

Thirty years ago, as a Los Angeles Times correspondent, an assignment led me to the inner sanctum of the Politburo, that darkly mysterious and all-powerful center of the Soviet Union, as its leader Mikhail Gorbachev was initiating his ambitious drive for openness and change. His Perestroika, or restructuring of the Soviet government, would inevitably—if inadvertently—end the brutal Communist experiment to mold a brave new world of disparate ethnicities, cultures, and religions spanning one-sixth of the planet’s land mass.

My interview was with propaganda chief Alexander Yakovlev, the Politburo’s most liberal member and a close Gorbachev ally, while down the hall I would later knock on the door of Gorbachev’s No. 2 man, Yegor Ligachev, depicted most often as the strongest opponent of Perestroika. I didn’t encounter the less-defined figure of Boris Yeltsin, who would become Russia’s first president when the Soviet Union collapsed four years later. Yeltsin would come to appoint former KGB lieutenant colonel Vladimir Putin, part of the reform faction, to join his administration, and on December 31, 1999, when Yeltsin resigned, he named Putin acting president. The following year, Putin would be elected to the office, soundly defeating the Communist Party candidate.

In a historic and immensely important series of interviews filmmaker Oliver Stone has conducted with Putin, which is the subject of this book and a four-part Showtime documentary, Putin states he believed that with the Soviet Union’s collapse, the Cold War was over, and with it the endless threats of confrontation. But that was not to be.

Although Putin discarded Communism as an ideology and indeed embraces the traditions of Russian Orthodox Christianity, he remains a fervent nationalist, determined that Russia be granted the respect he strongly believes it deserves. That means deference to its historic concerns over its borders and the treatment of Russian-speaking people who, with the collapse of the Soviet Union, suddenly found themselves thrust outside newly drawn borders, Ukraine being a prime example.

In his discussion with Stone, Putin credits Gorbachev with recognizing that profound change was required in a failing Soviet system, but he faults him for his naïveté regarding the immense obstacles to that change at home and, more importantly, in the United States. Putin is dismissive of Gorbachev’s belief that reason would triumph, since both sides of the Cold War—each possessed of the capability to destroy all life on this planet—desired peace.

The central query in the Stone-Putin interviews is how matters devolved to the current state of tension. Thus they are compelling as a key text for understanding this dangerous time. The intermittent conversations between July 2, 2015 and February 10, 2017 occurred during a period when relations between the world’s two most formidable military powers degenerated to a point of suspicion and hostility not witnessed since the end of the Cold War more than a quarter century ago. And as Stone reminds in several pointed exchanges, the tendency of power to corrupt rulers of any country in the name of a false patriotism should be of concern in any nation, Russia most definitely included.

The discussion is respectful, and as Stone states at the conclusion, it gives Putin a chance “to state his side of the story;” but that is a story the film director-journalist questions energetically, considering the continuing controversy over Russia’s role in the world, ranging from its support of the Assad regime in Syria to charges of interference in the 2016 US presidential election.

Stone knows much about futile wars and the lies told about them, having served two combat tours in Vietnam, a story he documented in his Academy Award-winning movie Platoon and the two others in his brilliant Vietnam trilogy, Born on the Fourth of July and Heaven and Earth. He explored the subject convincingly in his 2012 ten-part revisionist history for Showtime, The Untold History of the United States, and its 750-page companion volume, which challenges the conventional US Cold War narrative that provides an essential backdrop for this current work.

Putin is no less familiar with the subject, having come to power in Russia on the ashes of a Soviet Union that, despite surviving the immense horrors of the German invasion and fifty million dead, unraveled in the wake of a pointless invasion of Afghanistan. He leads a society that retains enormous military power but is far less successful in its peaceful economic achievements.

These men share a conviction that militaristic hubris is fatal, and both express wariness of ideologies in their respective societies that historically supported imperial adventure. But this is not a conversation of equals, for Stone is very much the questioning artist eager to pursue contradiction and oddities of thought, while Putin makes amply clear that, as guarded as he appears, he is highly mindful of his position as the commander-in-chief of the world’s second most awesome military power, and that his words have consequences far beyond the requirements of interesting filmmaking. Still, there is clearly a mutual, if wary, respect between the two that makes for a candid glimpse into the minds of the powerful, both the ruler and the artist.

For Stone, filmmaking provides a natural outlet for his scorn of the perceived wisdom of his nation’s foreign policy establishment. For Putin, the task is more complicated, being the leader of a nation in profound transition from Soviet Communist ideology to a new Russian national identity that attempts to bridge “a thousand years” of Russian history, spanning eras of the czars to the powerful oligarchs, the Russian version of our crony capitalists.

Putin emerges here as the prophet of a wounded Russian nationalism that, while capable of posing a potent threat, should not be confused with the Communist ideology that preceded his rise to power, and which he clearly views with considerable distaste. That tension provides the leitmotif of this rare glimpse into the workings of Putin’s mind and, in a larger sense, of the quandary of Russia’s place in a much-changed world. The interview begins at a time when few expected the US victory of a populist rightwing candidate who trounced a dozen leaders of the GOP establishment in the primary and went on to defeat the anointed candidate of the Democratic party leadership. By the end of the transcript, less than a month after Donald Trump’s inauguration as president, the lengthy interview comes to an end that is both illuminating and depressing.

In that last session, Stone strenuously pushes Putin to complete the interview in a manner the intellectually aggressive documentarian believes will answer some unanswered questions. That includes controversial aspects of Putin’s eighteen years as head of the world’s largest nation, by land mass. Is Putin addicted to power? Does he see himself as the indispensable agent of Russian history? Has the largely unchallenged power he wields corrupted his vision? This is not the first time these topics have been broached, but whereas Stone’s earlier probing seemed welcomed by Putin, there is now a weariness that, he makes clear, is borne not so much from assuming his ideas are unappealing to a Western audience, but rather that they simply will not be heard.

Now facing his fourth American president, and ironically one he is widely accused of having helped elect (which he denies), Putin seems worn down by the effort to break through to any American leadership. He asserts that it, and more importantly the bureaucracy that informs it, inevitably views Russia not as a partner, a word he uses frequently to refer to the United States, albeit with a lacing of sarcasm, but as a convenient scapegoat for its own failures.

At the third interview’s conclusion, Putin asks Stone if he has ever been beaten. Stone assures him, “Oh, yes many times,” to which Putin responds, referring to the projected release of the documentary: “Then it’s not going to be anything new, because you’re going to suffer for what you are about to do.”

It is a painful but perhaps accurate prediction, given the current climate of widespread condemnation of yet unproven claims of Russian interference in the US election. Stone replies: “I know, but it’s worth it … to try to bring some more peace and consciousness to the world.”

—Robert Scheer


FIRST INTERVIEW

Trip 1—Day 1—July 2, 2015

 

ON PUTIN’S BACKGROUND

OS: I think a lot of Western people don’t know much about you except for the news. We’d like to know about your background and where you came from. I know that you were born in October, 1952, after the war. That your mother was a factory worker and your father had been in the war. But I don’t know what he did after the war. And I know that you lived in a collective apartment with other families as you grew up.

VP: My mother didn’t work at a factory. She was a worker, however, but she did different jobs. But I was an only child. They had lost two children before me. One during the Siege of Leningrad,1 during the war. And they didn’t want to give me up to an orphanage. And that’s why my mother was working as a warden—

OS: Because she did not want to give you up?

VP: Yes, that’s correct. And my father was working at a plant—a factory.

OS: Doing what exactly?

VP: He was an engineer. He graduated from college. He had a vocational education and he was working in a factory.

OS: Steadily or was it stop-gap work? Did he work on a steady basis?

VP: Yes. Yes. On a steady basis. I would say. And he’d been working for a very long time. And then he retired and he still worked until he was 70 or so.

OS: He was wounded in the war, though?

VP: Yes, he was. When the war started he was serving in a special unit. There were small intelligence groups which were sent to the area guard of the enemy to perform different actions. There were 20 people sent in such a group and only four survived.

He told me of that and later, when I was president, I got the archives and I received a confirmation of what had happened. It’s quite curious. It was. And then he was sent to the armed forces to one of the most dangerous areas of the Leningrad front. It was called the Nevsky Pyatachok—the bridgehead. There were hostilities on the Ritneva River. The Soviet army managed to create a small bridgehead two by four kilometers.

OS: Going on, your older brother died within a few days, I believe it was, or within a few months of your birth?

VP: No, he died during the Siege of Leningrad. And he was less than three years old. And back then in order to save children, children were taken from their families to support them, to save their lives. But my brother got ill and he died. And our parents were not even informed where he was buried. Quite curious, just recently there were some interested people and they managed to find something in the archives. They used the surname, the father’s name, and the address from whence the child was taken. And they managed to find some documents about his death and about where he was buried and the orphanage where he was sent. And last year was the first time that I visited his burial place. It’s in Memorial Soundry in St. Petersburg.

OS: Well, considering the casualties from World War II, I would imagine your father and mother were not broken by these tragedies. They must have looked to their third son as a new hope.

VP: Well, indeed they were not broken. But the war ended in 1945, and I was born only in 1952. And that was a very difficult time for ordinary people who believed in the Soviet Union. And yet they decided to have another child.

OS: And tell me … I hear you had a bit of … a bit of a juvenile delinquency problem. You were a bit of a wild child until, I heard, you studied Judo at the age of 12.

VP: Yes, indeed. My parents tried to pay attention to my upbringing but still … I lived in freedom and I spent much time in the courtyard and the streets. And certainly I was not always as disciplined as some would have liked me to be. And since I started going into sport on a systemic basis, started to do Judo, this became a changing factor in my life for the better.

OS: I also heard that your grandfather on your mother’s side was a chef at times for Lenin and for Stalin.

VP: Yes, indeed. It happened. It’s a small world as it were. It’s true. Before the 1917 revolution he worked at a restaurant in Petrograd, in Leningrad. He was a chef, a cook. I don’t know how he got to work for someone of Lenin’s stature. But later, indeed, he worked in the countryside where Stalin lived and he worked for Stalin. He was a very simple man—a cook.

OS: Did you hear him tell any stories?

VP: No, he didn’t. He didn’t tell me anything, but to be honest, part of my childhood I spent in the Moscow Oblest. We lived in St. Petersburg, which was called Leningrad back then. But in the summer we went for a few weeks to visit my grandfather—he was a retiree. But he still lived where he used to work. He lived in one of the State dachas. And my father told me how he went to his father when Stalin was still alive. And my grandfather showed him Stalin from afar. That’s the only thing I know.

OS: We have something in common—my mother who’s French, her father—my grandfather—was a French soldier in World War I. He was a chef also in the trenches. And he told me many stories about World War I and how tough it was.

VP: Yes, my mother told me also about the first World War, from what had been told to her by her father. He also participated in the first World War. One curious story from the human side. It was a war in trenches. And my grandfather got back and he told one story. He saw that one of the Austrian soldiers—I believe that was the Southern front—was aiming at him. But my grandfather was first, he shot first and the Austrian fell. And then my grandfather saw that the Austrian was still alive. But his disposition was like that—he was the only person there apart from the Austrian—and the Austrian was bleeding to death. He was going to die. And my grandfather just crawled to him. He took his first aid kit and bandaged his wounds. Quite curious. He told his relatives, “I wouldn’t have shot first if I hadn’t seen that he was aiming at me.” But whatever country you are from—we are all the same, we are all human beings and those people are also just ordinary people, just workers as we are.

OS: The French war was as bloody as the Russian war. In World War I, one-half, 50 percent of the population of young men between 17 and about 35 were killed or wounded in that war.2

VP: Yes, that’s true.

OS: You graduated from high school and I believe you went directly to law school. That’s the Russian system?

VP: Yes, that’s true. I graduated from high school, secondary school, in Leningrad and I directly entered Leningrad University and started to study law.

OS: And graduated in 1975? That’s pretty good—as a lawyer and met your first wife there—I mean your last wife—your only wife.

VP: That was later. That was after seven years.

OS: And then you joined the KGB right away in 1975 in Leningrad.

VP: Yes, as a matter of fact, there was this system of distribution of jobs in the Soviet higher education institutions. So when you graduated from a higher education institution, you were supposed to go where you were sent.

OS: Oh, so you had no choice?

VP: Well, I’m going to tell you. So I was taken right away—by job distribution I was obliged to go there—but I also wanted to. Moreover, I entered law school because I wanted to work for the KGB. And still when I was a pupil at school I went to the KGB office in Leningrad by myself. And I asked them what I had to do in order to work for the KGB. And the worker there told me that I had to have a higher education and better legal education. And that’s why I entered law school.

OS: Oh, I see.

VP: But you know, since that moment no one remembered me of course, and I hadn’t had any contact with the KGB. And when the time came for the distribution, it was quite unexpected that the KGB found me and offered a job.

OS: And you had romanticized, of course, the Soviet films about the KGB and intelligence work.

VP: Indeed. That’s exactly the case.

OS: Their names were Tikhonov and Georgy … Starring Tikhonov and Georgy … Movie actors.

VP: There were books, there were films. That’s quite correct—you formulated it quite aptly.

OS: Yeah. And you went to Dresden from 1985 through 1990, but for the first 10 years you were mostly in Leningrad?

VP: Yes. Exactly. In Leningrad and also in Moscow at special schools.

OS: And you were rising, you were doing very well.

VP: Yes. On the whole, yes.

OS: East Germany from 1985 to 1990 was pretty dismal.

VP: Well, not exactly dismal. Back then, in the Soviet Union, there were these processes which were related to Perestroika.3 Well I don’t think we’re going to elaborate on that—there were many issues related to Perestroika but there was still this vein—this spirit of innovation. And when I came to Eastern Germany, to the Republic, I saw no spirit of innovation at all.

OS: That’s what I meant.

VP: And I had this impression that society was frozen in the 1950s.

OS: So Gorbachev—you didn’t know him, I mean, you didn’t really have … A sense of reform was going on but you were not in Moscow to feel it. It was a strange time. Did you go back to Moscow? Did you experience Perestroika?

VP: You know, it was quite understandable to Gorbachev and to his entourage that the country needed changes. Today I can say with all confidence that they didn’t understand what those changes were and how to achieve them.

OS: Right.

VP: And that’s why they did many things which dealt great damage to the country. Even though they were reacting for the sake of good and they were right to think that changes were required.

OS: But Gorbachev—I met him several times—he came to the United States and I also met him here. But he has a resemblance to you in the sense that he came up through that system. Very much humble beginnings. He was an expert in agriculture. He studied the documents, he worked very hard and he seemed to recognize early, in his memoir, that there were many difficulties that would not work in the economy. Things were not working.

VP: We all have something in common because we’re human beings.

OS: Yeah, but what I’m saying is that he was a worker. He was specific and he was asking questions—how do we fix this?

VP: I was not a worker and I think it is exactly this specificity, this concreteness, which many of the former Soviet leadership were lacking. Gorbachev included. They didn’t know what they wanted or know how to achieve what was required.

OS: Okay. But there was a coup d’état in 1991 in August,4 and you resigned on the second day of the coup. The coup being from the Communist Party.

VP: Yes, there was an attempt at a coup d’état. And back in those days—I don’t remember if it was the second day or the third day—indeed I resigned. Because when I returned from Germany I worked at the university for some time. And I was still an officer of the KGB—external intelligence service. And afterwards the former mayor of St. Petersburg, Mr. Sobchak, offered me a job.5 And that was quite a curious conversation because I used to be his pupil and he invited me into his cabinet.

OS: But that was afterward. Why did you resign? I mean this is your career.

VP: I’m going to tell you everything. So when Sobchak invited me to work for him, I told him that I was very much interested in working with him. But I thought that it was impossible. And that it was not the right thing to do. Because I was still an officer of the external intelligence service of the KGB. And Sobchak was a prominent Democratic leader—a politician of the new wave. And I told him directly that if someone were to know that I worked side by side with him, as a former KGB worker, it was going to do damage to his reputation. And back then the country was witnessing very acute political strife. But I was very much surprised at Sobchak’s reaction when he told me, “Oh that’s nothing to me.” And I worked for him for a short time as his adviser. And afterwards, when the coup d’état was attempted, I found myself in a very ambiguous situation.

OS: In August, ’91?

VP: Yes, the coup d’état was attempted with the use of force. And I could no longer be an officer of the KGB while remaining a close adviser to the democratically elected mayor of St. Petersburg. And that’s why I resigned. Sobchak made a telephone call to the president of the KGB of the USSR. And he asked him to let me go. And he gave his consent just a couple of days later for the decree and my resignation to be issued.

OS: But in your mind, did you still believe in communism? Did you still believe in the system?

VP: No, certainly not. But at the beginning I believed it and the idea is a good one and I believed in it. And I wanted to implement it.

OS: When did you change?

VP: You know, regrettably, my views are not changed when I’m exposed to new ideas, but only when I’m exposed to new circumstances. It became clear that the system was not efficient and the system was at a dead end. The economy was not growing. The political system was stagnating. It was frozen and was not capable of any development. The monopoly of one political force, of one party, is pernicious to the country.

OS: But these are Gorbachev’s ideas, so you were influenced by Gorbachev.

VP: These are not ideas of Gorbachev. These ideas were put forward by the French socialist Utopians,6 so Gorbachev has nothing to do with these ideas. Gorbachev was responding to the circumstances. I reiterate—his merit is that he felt this need for changes. And he tried to change the system. Not even change, he tried to renovate it, to overhaul it. But the problem is, this system was not efficient at its roots. And how can you radically change the system while preserving the country? That’s something no one back then knew—including Gorbachev. And they pushed the country towards collapse.7

OS: Yeah, that must have been traumatic. The Soviet Union collapsed, and the Russian Federation was formed under Yeltsin. But I was in St. Petersburg in early ‘92 and I met with Sobchak. I think I may have met you—who knows, if you were an assistant to him back then.

VP: No, I don’t remember, but I want to tell you that Sobchak was an absolutely sincere, wholesome man. From an ideological point of view, he was a Democrat, but he was categorically against the disintegration of the Soviet Union.

OS: He was against the disintegration. Yes, it was a wild time, it was exciting. It felt like it was a birth of something new and no one knew where it was going. There were gangsters, there were—people were different. They were wearing new clothes. I had been in the Soviet Union in 1983 during the Brezhnev era and was very depressed by it. So when I came back seven or eight years later it was unbelievable to me. Sobchak took us to a fancy restaurant and we had a wonderful time with him.

VP: But back then, at the same time, when the fancy restaurants appeared, the Russian social security system was destroyed completely. Whole branches of the economy stopped functioning. The healthcare system was in ruins. The armed forces were also in a very depressive condition, and millions of people were under the poverty line. And we have to remember that as well.

OS: Yes, that was the other side of it. You moved to Moscow in 1996 and became the head of the Federal Security Service for 13 months.

VP: No, not right away. I moved to Moscow and at first I was supposed to work for President Yeltsin’s administration. And I started to work in the office of the administration of President Yeltsin. I was in charge of legal matters. And afterwards I was transferred to the administration. And I was responsible for the Oversight Directorate. This Department was overseeing the government and the regional administrations. After that I became the director of the Federal Security Service (FSB - Federal’naya Sluzhba Bezopasnosti).

OS: Right, so in that role you must have seen what a mess this was, I gather. It was a nightmare of chaos.

VP: Yes, certainly. I often hear criticism addressed to me. They say that I regret the collapse of the Soviet Union. To start with, the most important thing is that after the disintegration of the Soviet Union, 25 million Russians—in a blink of an eye—found themselves abroad. In another country.

That’s one of the greatest catastrophes of the 20th century. People used to live in one country; they had relatives, work, apartments, and they had equal rights. And yet in an instant they found themselves abroad. And there were certain signs and then full-fledged civil wars. Yes, I saw that all personally, especially when I became director of the Federal Security Service.

OS: And in 1999 you worked your way up to be the acting Prime Minister. And Yeltsin resigned in 2000. Obviously, just looking at press conferences and film of Mr. Yeltsin, he was clearly alcohol diseased. His brain seemed to be—the way he spoke and the way he stared at the camera, the way he moved—he looked like he was catatonic.

VP: You know, I do not think that I have the right to give any assessment—either about Gorbachev, or the personality of Yeltsin. Well, I told you that Gorbachev didn’t understand what had to be done, what the objectives were and how to achieve them. And yet he was the first to make a step towards giving the country its freedom, and that was a historical breakthrough. Quite an evident fact—and the same thing goes for Yeltsin. Just as any one of us, he had his problems, but he also had his strong side and one of those advantages was that he never tried to avoid, to shirk responsibility, personal responsibility. He knew how to assume responsibility. Even though certainly he had his demons. But what you said is true. It’s no secret. It was also the reality.

OS: Just out of curiosity, because I know the Khrushchev story, having to drink with Stalin—did you have a drink with Mr. Yeltsin at night sometimes?

VP: No, never. I was not as close to him as you might suspect. I never was one of the closest advisers either to Gorbachev or to Yeltsin. And it was a complete surprise when he appointed me head of the Federal Security Service. That’s the first thing. Secondly, I never abused alcohol. But even when we met, it was also always in a businesslike manner. And I never saw him drunk when he was at work.

OS: A hangover maybe?

VP: I never checked. I never tried to smell him. I’m quite sincere. I never went with him to hunt, I never spent time with him. I met with him at his office. And that’s it. I never drank a shot of vodka with him.

OS: Wow. So here you are—many prime ministers come and go and all of a sudden—you’re the acting prime minister. Now what?

VP: Yes, you know that’s a curious story. You see, I came from Leningrad to Moscow in 1996 just as you said. And on the whole in Moscow I didn’t have any strong support, any contacts. In 1996 I came, and on January 1, 2000 I became acting president. So it’s an incredible story.

OS: Yeah.

VP: But I have to tell you that indeed I didn’t have any special relationship either with Yeltsin or his team.

OS: Maybe some other prime minister had been fired and he just said, “Well you take the job now.”

VP: I don’t know. Probably he was trying to find someone because he had decided to resign. And indeed several prime ministers had been appointed, then resigned. I don’t know why he chose me. Before me there had been very talented prime ministers and recently just one of them has passed away. But when Yeltsin offered this job to me for the first time I refused.

OS: You refused? Why is that?

VP: Yes. I told him—it was in the adjacent office—he invited me in and told me that he wanted to appoint me as prime minister and then wanted me to run for president. I told him that was a great responsibility and that I had to change my life for that. And I was not sure that I was willing to do that. And he told me, “Well, we’ll get back to this conversation later.”

OS: Changed your life in what way? I mean, you had already been a bureaucrat in the government for a long time.

VP: Well it’s quite a different story still. It’s one thing when you’re a bureaucrat—even a high level bureaucrat—you can live almost an ordinary life. You can go to see your friends, go to the cinema, to the theater, to talk to friends freely. And not assume such personal responsibility for the fates of millions of people for everything that’s going on in the country. And to assume responsibility for Russia back then was a very difficult thing to do. And, moreover, in August 1999, when Boris Yeltsin offered my candidature as prime minister and the parliament supported that decision. And the second Chechen War started in Russia in August.8 And that was an ordeal for the country. And frankly speaking, I didn’t know back then President Yeltsin’s final plans with regard to me. But the situation was just like that. I had to assume responsibility for this situation. And I didn’t know how long I would endure. Because at any second President Yeltsin could tell me, “You are dismissed.” And there was only one thing I was thinking about back then: Where to hide my children?

OS: Oh really? And what would you do?

VP: Well, what would you think? The situation was very acute—just imagine if I were dismissed. I didn’t have any bodyguards and what would I do? How to secure my family? And back then I decided if that was my fate, then I had to go to the end. And I didn’t know then that I was to become president. There were no guarantees of that.

OS: May I ask, were you ever in meetings with Yeltsin and any of the oligarchs?

VP: Yes, certainly.

OS: So you saw the way he handled it?

VP: Of course. It was quite official, very pragmatic. He met them not as oligarchs but as representatives of large enterprises—as people on whose work the fates of millions of people depended and large labor forces.

OS: Did you sense that Yeltsin was being pushed around?

VP: Yes, but he didn’t understand that. Boris Yeltsin was a very distant man. If he is to blame for anything with regard to this oligarchic system of governance, it’s that he was very trusting. And he had no relations whatsoever with oligarchs. And he never got any benefits from those oligarchs personally.

OS: Did you ever meet Berezovsky or people like that?9

VP: Yes, certainly. I was acquainted with Berezovsky even before I came to Moscow.

OS: In what way? Was it friendly?

VP: No, we didn’t have any friendly relations. I met him because I was working in St. Petersburg and there was a request from Moscow to receive someone from the US Senate, if I remember correctly. That was a senator flying from Tbilisi and he wanted to meet Sobchak and, since I was in charge of external relations of the city, I was asked to organize that meeting. I reported to Sobchak. He agreed and we met that senator, that gentleman who came from Tbilisi and Berezovsky came with the senator—he was accompanying him. And that’s the way I met him. And Mr. Berezovsky fell asleep during the meeting.

OS: Well, Berezovsky is a smart man, he must have summed you up—looked at you wondering how he can handle you or deal with you, right? I mean, it’s going both ways.

VP: No, you see I was just an assistant to Sobchak. If he was thinking about something he was thinking about how to foster his relationship with Sobchak, not with me.

OS: Okay, well we’re in 2000 now. This is a dark time. Now you’ve become president. The vote was 53 percent. You’re not expected to last. You’re president of a country which is in a dark time—the Chechen War is going on. It looks very bad and the oligarchs … Privatization is everywhere. You push back. I’ve seen the documentaries and I can show the footage of that fight. There was the greatest struggle it seems to me—one of the darkest times of your life.

VP: Yes, that’s … exactly the case. But those difficult times came not in 2000 but much earlier. I think it was in the early 1990s, right after the collapse of the Soviet Union, and by 2000 … In 1998, we had a crisis—a very large economic crisis. In 1999, the second Chechen War was resumed and I became acting president and the country was in a very difficult situation. And that’s the truth.

OS: And did you wake up at four in the morning? Did you ever sleep? What were the dark nights like?

VP: No, I never woke up at 4 a.m. I went to sleep at midnight and I woke up at seven or so. I always slept for six to seven hours.

OS: Very disciplined. No nightmares?

VP: No.

OS: Really? This is a discipline from the military, from the KGB experience?

VP: I think that’s thanks to sport and to military service as well.

OS: You have a lot of discipline, sir.

VP: The thing is, if it’s not done then it’s really difficult to work. If you’re not disciplined then you will not have enough strength to address the current issues. Let alone strategic ones. You always have to keep fit.

OS: Yeah, but did you see your children during this period? And your wife?

VP: Yes, certainly. But only for a very short time.

OS: Regular basis? You’d have dinner at home or did you have dinner with them? Did you see them on a nightly basis?

VP: I came home very late and I went off to work very early. Well, of course I saw them but very briefly.

OS: And when did your parents die? In this period?

VP: My mother died in 1998 and my father in 1999.

OS: That must have been very difficult—among all these other difficulties.

VP: For the last two years my parents were in a hospital. And every Friday, I flew from Moscow to St. Petersburg to see them. Every week.

OS: And for the weekend, and come back on Sunday, or … ?

VP: No, I went just for one day. I saw them, and then I came back to Moscow.

OS: Were they proud of you?

VP: Yes.

OS: Your mother and father couldn’t believe it, right?

VP: That’s indeed so. My father didn’t live two months to see me appointed as prime minister. But even before I became prime minister, when I saw him, when I came to see him, he always told the nurses, “Look—here’s my president coming.”

OS: That’s nice. That’s nice. You’re credited with doing many fine things in your first term. Privatization was stopped. You built up industries—electronics, engineering, petrochemical, agriculture, and many others. A real son of Russia—you should be proud. You raised the GDP, you raised incomes, you reformed the army, you resolved the Chechen War.10

VP: Well, it’s not exactly like that. I didn’t stop privatization. I just wanted to make it more equitable, more fair. I did everything so that state property was not sold for free. We put an end to some schemes—manipulation schemes—which led to the creation of oligarchs. These schemes that allowed some people to become billionaires in the blink of an eye. With all due respect to Wassily Leontief, the American of Russian origin and Nobel Prize winner in economics. And when he was alive I met him and I attended his lectures and I listened to him talk. He said that property could be distributed freely for one ruble. But in the end, this property was supposed to get into the hands of people who deserved it—that’s what he thought. I think that in our conditions, in the Russian conditions, it led to the legal enrichment of a whole category of people. And it also led to a situation where the government either lost control of strategic industries or just led to the destruction of those industries. So my goal was not to stop privatization, but to make it more systemic, more equitable.

OS: I saw the footage of you with the oligarchs in 2003-4. It was an interesting meeting. But did you have head-on collisions with Berezovsky and people like that, with Khodorkovsky.

VP: No head-on collisions. I just told them that they had to be equidistant from the government. That was the fashionable term back then. And I told them that if they acquired their property within the framework of law, then we would not seek to take that property from them. But today laws are changing and they have to conform to the new laws. I assume that any attempts at revisiting the outcome of privatization can do more damage to the economy of the country than the privatization itself. And that’s why we’re going to continue with the privatization on a fairer basis and do everything in our power to secure these properties, these titles, but everyone has to understand that everyone has to be equal before the law. And no one objected back then.

OS: You cut the poverty rate by two-thirds?

VP: That’s correct.

OS: Respect for the old people. Pensions.

VP: Yes, many fold.

OS: In 2000, 2,700 rubles was the average income. In 2012, 29,000 rubles.

VP: Yes, that’s correct.

OS: Immensely popular in 2004—you’re reelected with 70 percent of the vote.11

VP: A little more than that.

OS: And 2008, because only two terms are allowed, you would become the prime minister. A force behind the throne. And in 2012 you run for president and you win. By 63 percent, I believe 63 percent in 2012.

VP: Yes, that’s correct.

OS: So yes, three times president. Maybe, some people would say a fourth term like Roosevelt—you’ve outdone Franklin Delano Roosevelt.

VP: He was president four times?12

OS: Yes, he didn’t complete his fourth term, but he obviously was immensely popular. And obviously you’re criticized for many things. And we can get into that later, but you’re criticized for cracking down on the press, among other things, but I’m not going to get into that tonight. I realize that you have been president now for almost 15 years. Which is unbelievable.

VP: No, just first two terms—that’s eight years—four and four. And now starting from 2012—it’s 10 years.

OS: Okay. Well you worked hard when you were prime minister, too.

VP: Yes, I worked hard and quite successfully too on the whole. But back then, Russia’s president was a different person. I know the assessments given to this period abroad. I have to tell you that President Medvedev performed independently all his functions. There was this division of functions according to the Constitution. I never interfered within his domain.13 There were certain issues when he deemed it possible to consult me on this or that matter. But that was quite a rare occurrence. He did almost everything as he deemed necessary. Furthermore, I can tell you a curious story. During the inauguration of President Medvedev,14 we met here—just a handful of those who were close to him—and one of the Russian dignitaries said some kind words to me. And he said, “We all understand everything—that you’re still our president,” he told me. And I told everyone, “Thank you for the kind words, but please, do not send false signals to society. Only one person can be the president of the country—the one who is elected by the people.”

OS: Fair enough. Five assassination attempts, I’m told. Not as much as Castro, whom I interviewed—I think he must have had 50—but there’s a legitimate five that I’ve heard about.15

VP: Yes, I talked with Castro about that and he said to me, “Do you know why I’m still alive?” I asked him, “Why?” “Because I was always the one to deal with my security personally.” Unlike Castro, I do my job and the security officers do theirs and they are still performing quite successfully. I was quite successful in performing my functions and they in theirs.

OS: So you are saying you did not follow the Castro model?

VP: I don’t see there is a need for that.

OS: In other words, you trust your security and they’ve done a good job.

VP: Yes.

OS: Because always the first mode of assassination, from when the United States went after Castro, you try to get inside the security of the president to perform assassination.

VP: Yes, I know that. Do you know what they say among the Russian people? They say that those who are destined to be hanged are not going to drown.

OS: What is your fate, sir? Do you know?

VP: Only God knows that. Only God knows our destiny—yours and mine.

OS: To die in bed, maybe?

VP: One day this is going to happen to each and every one of us. The question is what will we have accomplished by that time in this transient world and whether we’ll have enjoyed our life.

OS: I have about 10 more minutes of questions and then we can wrap it for tonight.

In a Russian documentary I saw about you, they described the Iceberg Theory, which is in foreign affairs most people see one-seventh of the iceberg, the top only, they don’t see the six-sevenths below the surface of the water. And that all foreign affairs are very treacherous and different than what they appear to be.

VP: That’s very complicated.

OS: Well, I’d like to go there tomorrow and the next day. I mean it’s almost impossible to tell what’s going on in the world unless you look below the surface.

VP: You know, it’s sufficient just to closely monitor what’s going on in the world always and then you’ll understand the logic behind what is going on. Why do ordinary people often lose touch with what is going on? Why do they consider these things complicated? Why do they think that something is concealed from their eyes? This is simply because ordinary people live their lives. On an everyday basis they go to work and earn money, and they are not following international affairs. That’s why ordinary people are so easy to manipulate, to be misled. But if they were to follow what’s going on in the world on an everyday basis, then despite the fact that some part of diplomacy is always conducted behind closed doors, it’s still going to be easier to understand what’s going on and you’ll be able to grasp the logic behind world developments. And you can achieve it even without having access to secret documents.

OS: I’ve read about your prodigious work habits. You read, you study. And I wanted to tell you a story that I recently read about John Kennedy. He was an exciting and glamorous president, but he also worked very, very hard. His brother Robert Kennedy wrote a book, Thirteen Days, about the crisis in Cuba between Khrushchev and Kennedy and in the book it was amazing that Robert Kennedy described that his brother read every document, every speech by a foreign leader that he could. He knew what the speech was, he didn’t take the extract of the information from the CIA, from this intelligence agency, because he didn’t trust them. And as a result, he was able to reach his own conclusions with Khrushchev and solve this crisis.

VP: I do not read abstracts. I always read documents—the original ones. I never use analytical materials provided to me by the intelligence services. I always read separate documents.

OS: It’s interesting, I had that feeling. Your theory of life they say is summed up in the philosophy of Judo?

VP: Yes, more or less. The main idea—the flexible way, as it were—that’s the main idea in Judo. You must be flexible. Sometimes you can give way to others. If that is the way leading to victory …

OS: And at the same time there’s a rat story, which you told Mike Wallace, where you chased a rat, when you were a young boy I guess, with a stick, and the rat turned on you.

VP: It didn’t bite, but it tried to jump at me. And then I was the one to run from the rat. And there were the stairs, and there was a landing, then another flight of stairs. So it was like that—one leading down, then the landing, then another stairs. Even though I was very small I was still able to run faster than the rat. I had the time to run down the stairs, then the landing, and then down the other stairs. And do you know what the rat did? It jumped from one set of stairs to the other from above.

OS: Well, you pissed off the rat with the stick, right?

VP: Yes, I think that was the case.

OS: So in your philosophy with Judo it would be don’t push too hard sometimes—your opponent may look weak, but your opponent may turn on you.

VP: Well, I didn’t go into Judo back then. And the conclusion, I think, is somewhat different here. You know there is this famous saying: you should never corner a rat. And that’s exactly what I did. No one should be cornered. No one should be led to a situation which ends in a dead end.

OS: The oligarchs underestimated you. When you became president, they didn’t think you would last.

VP: You see, oligarchs are different. And that’s true. Among them there were those who were willing to conform to the system of relationship with the government that was being proposed to them. And they were told that no one was trying to infringe upon their property. They were told that the government would protect their property. Even if the previous laws had been unjust. The law is always the law. But that’s another rule to be observed.

OS: The law is always the law, unless it changes. People protest. In America, there was civil rights legislation. Many good things come out of protest—disobedience to the law.

VP: That’s also true, but our situation was different. I believe that the privatization laws at the beginning of the 1990s were not just. But if we were to conduct de-privatization, as I said before, it would have been even more damaging to the economy and to the lives of common people. And that’s what I told the big business leaders, that was a frank discussion. I told them that the previously-existing schemes were to be phased out of existence. I told them that laws were supposed to become fairer and more just. And I also told them that business was to assume more social responsibility. And many businessmen, the overwhelming majority of them, conformed to the new laws. Do you know who was not happy about the new laws? Those who were not true businessmen. Those who earned their millions or billions not thanks to their entrepreneurial talents, but thanks to their ability to force good relationships with the government—those people were not happy. They didn’t like the new laws. But there was just a handful of those. On the whole our relationship with business was good.

OS: Just to close on a note about Stalin. You know, you’ve said negative things about Stalin, and of course he’s widely condemned in the world. But at the same time we all know that he was a great wartime leader. He led Russia to victory over Germany, over fascism. What do you make of that ambiguity?

VP: I think that you are a cunning person.

OS: Why? We can discuss it tomorrow if you want.

VP: No, I’m ready to answer. You know, there was one prominent politician of the past, Winston Churchill. He was very firmly against Sovietism, but once the Second World War started, he was a great advocate of working together with the Soviet Union, and he called Stalin a great war leader and revolutionary. And after the Second World War, as is well known, it was Churchill who initiated the Cold War. And when the Soviet Union made the first nuclear test, it was none other than Winston Churchill who announced the need for a co-existence of two systems. He was a very flexible person. But I think that deep down in his heart, his attitude toward Stalin never wavered, never changed.

Stalin is a product of his era. You can try to demonize him however much you like. We try to talk about his merits in achieving victory over fascism. As to his demonization, there was such a person in history as Oliver Cromwell—he was a bloodthirsty man who arrived in power on the wave of a revolution and he turned into a dictator and tyrant. And monuments to him are still scattered all across Great Britain. Napoleon is deified. What did he do? He used the surge of revolutionary zeal and arrived in power. And he not only restored the monarchy, he pronounced himself Emperor. And he led France to a national catastrophe, to utter defeat. There are many situations, many people like that—more than enough in world history. I think that excessive demonization of Stalin is one of the ways to attack the Soviet Union and Russia, to show that the Russia of today has something originating from Stalinism. Well, of course we all have these birthmarks.

What I’m saying is Russia has changed radically. Well, of course something probably has remained in our mentality, but there is no going back to Stalinism, because the mentality of the people has changed. As to Stalin himself, he arrived in power with wonderful ideas that he was propounding. He was talking about the need for equality, fraternity, peace … But of course he turned into a dictator. I don’t think that in a situation like that anything else would have been possible. I’m referring to that particular situation in the world. Was it any better in Spain, or in Italy? Or in Germany? There are many countries where the government was based in tyranny.

But of course this doesn’t mean that he was not capable of bringing together the people of the Soviet Union. He managed to organize resistance to fascism. And he was not behaving like a Hitler. He was listening to his generals. And he even conformed himself to some of the decisions which were offered to him by his generals. This doesn’t mean, however, that we have to forget all the atrocities Stalinism committed—the destruction of millions of our compatriots, the extermination camps. These things are not to be forgotten. And he is an ambiguous figure. I think that at the end of his life he was in a very difficult position—a very difficult mental situation, I believe. But that requires an impartial study.

OS: And your father and your mother admired him, right?

VP: Yes, certainly. I think the overwhelming majority of the former Soviet citizens admired Stalin. Just as the overwhelming majority of the French admired Napoleon in the past—and many still admire him.

OS: I would like to just end on a quick, lighter note. I saw footage of you—it’s unbelievable—where you have learned … You obviously were not trained as a young man in these skills but you’ve learned how to play the piano. I saw that.

VP: Certainly. Recently a friend of mine taught me to play with two fingers a couple of very popular melodies.

OS: I mean, it’s still amazing that at your age you wanted to learn something new and I also saw you skiing. You had never been skiing before.

VP: I started skiing when I was a student. And I just recently started skating.

OS: Yeah, I saw that—in hockey.

VP: When I started skating, my first thought was—that’s just two years ago—I thought that I was never going to learn how to skate. And my first thought was: how to stop, how do I stop?

OS: Yeah. So are you worried about breaking an ankle? Or you’re not worried about injuring yourself, are you?

VP: Well, if you keep thinking about these things then probably you should stay at home.

OS: Well, hockey is a rough sport.

VP: Well, I didn’t expect it to be so rough. I thought that Judo was the roughest one, but it turned out that hockey was very athletic in its nature.

OS: Are you still playing?

VP: Yes, this morning I played hockey.

OS: Really? Unbelievable. And do you have any plans to conquer a new sport?

VP: No, not yet.

OS: But you’ve learned French?

VP: No, actually just a couple of phrases.

OS: Well, you went to Guatemala—that was enough to get the Winter Games.

VP: One of the International Olympic Committee members told me that I had to say at least a couple of words in French. That was a must he said.

OS: Oh, it was just a couple? You cheated.

VP: He said it was a token of respect. Not to the French, but to the Francophone African countries.

OS: Well thank you Mr. Putin for a wonderful beginning.

VP: Thank you. We’re going to continue tomorrow.
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ON YELTSIN AND THE GULF WAR

VP: There were many economic advisers from the United States working with the Central Government and the administration of President Yeltsin. And since we were in St. Petersburg we had little to do with it.

OS: But you joined with Yeltsin in ’95, right?

VP: 1996, to be more exact. I’d like to draw your attention to the fact that I was working in the office of the administration of the president and we had to deal with domestic matters. And I personally was in charge of legal affairs. But certainly later when I worked at the office of the administration and when I was working in St. Petersburg, we closely followed all these matters. And we saw the discussions between the American School of Economics and the Europeans, the majority of whom were not entirely approving of the recommendations which we were given by the Americans. I refer in particular to the privatization of state property. And to be frank we couldn’t interfere within this process and we didn’t. But what the Europeans told us back then, I thought that was quite objective, quite just. But what the American experts promised us looked much more attractive.

OS: Now, looking back at it, was this a private effort or did you feel the presence of the American government as well?

VP: I think both. Both the private sector and the government. Certainly the private sector was taking an active part in this process. But no doubt under the control of the central government.

OS: Did Mr. Yeltsin ever express dark thoughts about American interests here?

VP: No, never.

OS: Never?

VP: Never. Well, he didn’t express those thoughts but he didn’t go deep into economic issues. He trusted the government on the whole. He trusted those people who work around him. Those people whom he thought to be the new generation.

OS: And the Europeans were telling you what?

VP: Europeans thought that unchecked privatization that was conducted in Russia wouldn’t lead to raising the efficiency of the economy. Particularly as far as privatization in the key branches of the economy was concerned. As a matter of fact they proposed a softer way to us. Two words: market economy. And I believe that would have been much more efficient now that I look back at that time. And it wouldn’t have led to such acute social consequences. But we have to admit and to give credit to those who took the decision back then—they were bold enough to take steps without which no transition towards a market economy would have been possible.

OS: And who would that be?

VP: Yegor Gaidar, primarily. Chubais, from the economy ministry. Andrei Nechaev.

OS: So you’re saying you agree with the policy, but it was implemented too quickly?

VP: I agree with the objectives which they put forward. But I do not agree with the methods which they employed.

OS: As a young man, did you see anything wrong when Gorbachev made his deal with Reagan and brought back the troops from Eastern Europe? Did you see anything wrong with the United States intervening in Iraq in January of 1991?

VP: Publicly, I spoke about that, as far as the first part of your question is concerned. As to Eastern Europe, I think it would be senseless and damaging if the Soviet Union itself was to impose on other peoples and other nations their rules of conduct. Their vision of how society was to develop, how the political and state system of those countries was to be constructed. And that approach didn’t have any future. And it was quite evident that one way or another that had to end. People cannot always put up with decisions which are imposed on them from outside. Apart from that, Eastern Europe and Europe on the whole had their own political traditions and that couldn’t be neglected.
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